Ulinbawn – Historical Notes
Preamble

Ulinbawn is one of Glenbrook’s earliest residences and retains much of its early appearance and character.  It is located to the west of Sydney on the Lapstone ridge overlooking the Nepean district at an elevation of about 180 metres above sea level.  

This sandstone house is associated with the early speculation in the development of the area soon after the construction of the first railway across the mountains.  It is representative of a gentleman’s country residence of the mid Victorian era and has been home to many families over the years.  

The following notes are a compilation of the various known descriptions and records relating to Ulinbawn, a list of the references used is appended. It will be noted that inevitably there exist some contrary versions of the history and all have been included for completeness.

Heritage Recognition

Ulinbawn is heritage listed as follows:

 National Trust, classified on 24 August 1999 [ref. 39]

 Blue Mountains City Council, reference no. G32 [ref. 24].

Local History

The Blue Mountains presented a challenge to the exploration of the districts to the West of Sydney in the early days of the colony.  Blaxland, Wentworth and Lawson pioneered a practical route across the mountains in 1813.  The surveyor George Evans followed and set out the route for William Cox and a party of convicts to construct the first road in 1814/1815.

An 1860 survey of the area shows that the original Cox's Road climbed a steep spur from the Nepean River and near the top of the ascent more or less followed the present Knapsack Street [ref: 5].  It passed between the present location of Ulinbawn and the present alignment of Knapsack Street, apparently very close to the northern side of the house.  An alternative route was opened in 1824 and this part of Cox’s Road presumably was no longer maintained from this time but probably continued to be used as a local track.  A map dated 1884 refers to this track as Old Bathurst Road [ref. 16] and about that time it was realigned and renamed Knapsack Street.

The railway was opened from Penrith in 1867 and climbed the escarpment via the Lapstone Zigzag.  The coming of the railway meant easy access to the Blue Mountains which led to development of the mountain villages.  At this time a number of private houses were built as country residences for city based gentlemen.  On the escarpment above the Lapstone Zigzag and overlooking the valley of the Nepean River were built three houses for John Lucas, MLA in the 1870s. These were known as ‘Lucasville’, ‘Logie’ and ‘Ulinbawn’. A house was built for Randolph Charles Want, a Sydney solicitor, above the Knapsack Viaduct. The residence ‘Mountside’ was built in 1885 for William Lovel Davis MLA of Canterbury [ref: 13].
Although today part of Glenbrook, this locality was identified as Lapstone Hill prior to about 1880 then as Lucasville to about 1900 and thence Glenbrook.

Early Days

The land for Ulinbawn was purchased as a 10 acre lot for the sum of 10 pounds by John Lucas of Canterbury, a Member of the Legislative Assembly, on 5th December 1870.  John Lucas (1818 to 1902) was a builder, contractor, innkeeper, magistrate and a notable politician with liberal views [ref: 18].  Previous to this the property had been Crown Land [ref: 1].  
The Sydney Morning Herald described Lucas as a person who displayed “frequent and offensive drunkenness as well as vulgarity and violence of speech” [ref: 54]. Notwithstanding this he was notable for his achievements in the mining industry, establishing public works and reservation of parklands including Jenolan Caves.

Lucas also purchased in 1867 the adjacent 45 acre property on which he had the residences known as Lucasville and Logie built.  These houses were within the current grounds of the RAAF base. Lucasville was used by him as a country residence, there is no longer any trace of this house remaining., it is believed to have been destroyed by bushfire around the 1900 to 1910 period.  The 45 acre lot was subdivided and the portion including Logie was purchased by Captain Charles Smith who completed and extended it.  Logie was extensively altered in the 1920s and incorporated in the Lapstone Hill Hotel, now part of the RAAF base.

Lucasville Platform on the top road of the Zig Zag and below Lucasville house was opened 15th April 1878 to serve the residences nearby.  This platform was closed when the railway was diverted in 1892 [ref. 40].

It is not known with certainty the date when Ulinbawn was built, several accounts follow.

Ulinbawn was built by a Mr Yeomans about 1870.  He was an engineer who worked on the construction of the railway. [ref: 2].  Mr Yeoman has also been referred to as the surveyor of the Zig Zag railway [ref: 10].  [Note: Yeomans did not purchase the property until 1883 so this account is incorrect, “built by” could refer to alterations which may have been carried out by Yeomans in the 1880s]. 

Ulinbawn was built by a Mr Dunne (or Dunn) about 1870 [ref: 3] and was sold to Yeomans in the eighties after which the adjacent curve in the railway was known to railwaymen as Yeoman's Corner [ref: 3 & 4].   Mr Dunne's first name was William [ref: 10].  (Note:  Mr Dunne learnt his trade when about 19 years of age, about 1884 from Mr Ross who built Ilford House so Mr Dunne did not build Ulinbawn but may have undertaken modifications for Mr Yeomans in the 1880s).

The most likely history is that Lucas, who was a builder himself, engaged a local builder to construct the house to his own requirements, most likely this would have been before construction of Lucasville and about the same time as construction of the original Logie.  This would have been the early 1870s.  Construction of the house appears to have been in stages with possible further modifications carried out by Yeomans in the mid 1880s.  It is said that the stone for the house came from the nearby Zig Zag quarry and timber beams for roofing from a bakery at Emu Plains.

Not much is known about the earliest years of the house, its occupants prior to 1883 are unknown.  It is likely that John Lucas and/or his family used it as an occasional residence prior to building Lucasville.  It is likely that Sydney Alfred Want and wife Ellen (nee Doyle) (married 1873) may have lived at Ulinbawn in the 1870s and that this gave rise to the name of the house (see later comment on the origin of the house name).  During the 1870s it is possible the house was only occasionally occupied by the Lucas family or their associates or rented by holidaying visitors..
The 1878-79 census for the Nepean Electoral District lists 16 males (plus families) residing at ‘Lapstone’ or at ‘Lapstone Hill’ and it is taken that this refers to the area rather than to the Lucasville house.  This demonstrates the area to have been popular at this time.  This included three sons of John Lucas, viz, Percy, William and John presumably with their families, some of whom may have been residing at Ulinbawn.  Charles Smith appears to already be in residence at Logie in this census.  Randolph Want was also listed but not his son Sydney [ref. 46].  

Glenbrook in the 1880's and 1890's
By the 1880's Glenbrook had a reputation for its favourable climate and was a popular tourist destination with many visitors staying in the area in summer months.  A medical gentleman was quoted to say "Glenbrook is destined to become the sanatorium of New South Wales .... why it is the finest climate in the colony" [ref: 13].  The railway brought development and prosperity to the mountains and the hinterland. The Lapstone Zig Zag continued to operate until 1892 when a tunnel deviation was opened.

William Lovel Davis purchased part of the Lucas property adjoining the Ulinbawn boundary and in 1885 built the residence later called ‘Mountside’ [ref: 13]. Davis was a land agent speculating successfully in land and properties and was a member of parliament (1887-89) [ref: 61].
At an auction at Penrith on 22/7/1885, Randolph Charles Want purchased some land near Lucas’ property.  He was a solicitor and his son entered Parliament and became Attorney General [ref: 53].

Purchase by Yeomans

Mr George Yeomans purchased lots 12 to 14 of Deposited Plan 762 forming about three acres subdivided from the original 10 acre and 45 acre properties of John Lucas including the house Ulinbawn from John Lucas on 7th May 1883 [ref: 1].  A separate title was subsequently created in 1885 for this land [ref: 28].  Mr Yeoman seems to have bought Ulinbawn at about the period Breakfast Point platform was in use and the curve in the railway line that formed the boundary was known as Yeomans’ Corner [ref: 4 & 36].  George Yeomans (jnr) referred to his uncle having bought Ulinbawn after completion by Dunne [ref: 19].  

The Certificate of Title refers to George Yeomans as “of the City of Sydney, Gentleman”.  [ref: 28].  His nephew has recorded that Yeomans and two brothers had a property on the Barwon River, he sold his interest to one of the brothers and with the proceeds bought Ulinbawn.  Yeomans was a surveyor or engineer associated with construction of the zigzag railway [ref: 10 & 27].  Note: the description of Yeomans as a ‘squatter’ [ref. 17 & 48] and occupation as ‘station overseer’ [ref. 44] appears more likely to be the case. 

The title document records that the mortgage was held by ‘Richard Yeomans of Sydney, Solicitor’ [ref. 28].

George Yeomans purchased Ulinbawn in 1883 from John Lucas [ref. 1].  George had married Mary Love in 1872, on the certificate of marriage he was listed as a ‘station overseer’ residing at ‘Wammerawa, Walgett’ which is on the Barwon River to the west of Walgett whilst Mary had resided at 315 Elizabeth Street Sydney [ref. 44].  Greville’s Official Postal Directory of NSW for 1872, for the post town of Mount Harris, lists G. Yeomans, occupation as ‘squatter’ and address as ‘Brigalow, Wammerawa’ [ref. 48]. 

The "Glenbrook correspondent" reported in the press in January 1885 that "Mr Geo. Yeomans is about to erect an addition to his already comfortable dwelling.  He informs me that it is his intention to spend several hundred pounds in various improvements on the house and grounds" [ref: 13].  This may or may not have happened; perhaps this refers to the upstairs rooms which never eventuated until the 1970's through lack of a staircase.  The staircase is said to have been ordered but was lost when the ship transporting it sank or else that it was ordered from England but never arrived (a doubtful story) [ref. 9].

George Yeomans (jnr) recalled his uncle and aunt saying to him that the painter Arthur Streeton and his wife stayed with them at Ulinbawn when painting scenes of the area in about 1891 [ref: 11 & 36].  (Athur Streeton did not marry until much later).  Arthur Streeton stayed in Glenbrook from October to 30th December 1891 during which time he painted scenes of the area including of the construction of the Glenbrook railway tunnel.  He stayed at a place called "Daisy Cottage" [ref: 17], this was closer in to the village, but may have stayed in more than one place in Glenbrook during this period and may have returned to visit in later years.  

In a letter written in December 1891 to Tom Roberts, Streeton wrote: "A squatter living here Mr Yoeman (sic) - by nature and religion a naturalist - is very nice to me - dined with them on Sunday - very nice people" [ref: 17].

The nephew of Yeomans, also named George, came to live with his uncle and aunt at Ulinbawn following the death of his father in 1894.  His sisters would visit there on their way to boarding school in Sydney, their uncle would meet them off the train at Lucasville platform.

In 1892 the railway line was relocated with the Lapstone Zig Zag being abandoned in favour of a new railway tunnel.  The trains no longer passed Yeoman's Corner and the vicinity of Ulinbawn became more isolated, the only access being by a track leading to Mount Street.

The 1901 census records for the household of G. Yeomans that there were 2 male and 2 female occupants. At that time there were 26 inhabited dwellings in Glenbrook and 17 uninhabited [ref 22].

The family dog is also recorded, it was a black and tan collie answering to the name of ‘Laddie’ and was reported missing in 1894 [ref: 51].
Breakfast Point

For a period in the late 1870s to early 1880s Ulinbawn is said to have had an association with the serving of refreshments to tourist trains stopping at Breakfast Point platform which was located a short distance from the house [ref: 4].  From the platform there were panoramic views of the Nepean River and district. 

A platform known as "Breakfast Point" was opened on 1st September 1880, shown on a plan of the period to be at the end of Zig Zag Street (this street has never been formed), said to be to serve a planned subdivision which didn’t eventuate.  No mention is made of the platform in the railway Working Timetable of 1889 [ref: 5].  This subdivision was DP 762 of 1881 [ref: 26].

Breakfast Point platform was opened on 8th March 1875. The waiting shed cost £58 and the platform £4.[ref: 55].

Breakfast Point platform was opened about 1877, located where the railway begins it's sharp curve at the top near Knapsack Street of today [ref: 3].

On September 1st, 1880 a platform called Breakfast Point was opened [ref: 53] in front of Ulinbawn so that passengers could alight to be served with breakfast (or other meals) [ref: 4].

Breakfast Point platform opened 1/9/1877 and closed 1889 [ref: 30 & 40].

The Deposited Plan No. 762 which appears to be dated December 1881 shows the location of Breakfast Point Platform as being about 50 metres south of the intersection of Zig Zag Street and the railway [ref: 26].

Sir Alfred Stephen, Member of the Legislative Council, asked that a platform be erected at a spot known as Breakfast Point for special excursion trains and that tables be erected and four trees cut down [ref. 40].

Breakfast Point platform was opened … for the benefit of Mr Want, who lived nearby [ref: 43].

The Property Titles
The original property was purchased from the Crown in December 1870 as lot 31 comprising 10 acres  by John Lucas.  The land grant is referenced as Volume 112 Folio 127 the original of which still exists with the Land Titles Office, Sydney [ref: 1].  Prior to this John Lucas had purchased in 1867 lot 19 comprising 45 acres (Lucasville) [ref: 26].
The northern extent of the property was formed by the boundary with lot 19.  The railway formed the remaining boundary.  The boundary between lots 31 (Ulinbawn) and 19 was the northern side of the original line of Cox's Road of 1815, so that the road was within lot 31 and effectively closed.  This road and location relative to the lots is shown on an 1884 map of Glenbrook and referred to as Old Bathurst Road [ref: 16].  The immediate area was known as Lucasville and was part of the town of Emu [ref: 16].

Deposited Plan 762 which appears to be dated December 1881 formed a subdivision of the previous lots 19 and 31 to establish 27 separate lots and created Knapsack Street (a different alignment to Cox’s Road) and Zig Zag Street (which has never been formed).  Blocks of land being the properties of John Lucas were advertised for sale in 1881 [ref: 63]. In 1882 a small portion was transferred to William Lovel Davis being part of D.P. 762 lot 15 and combined with lot 17 formed from the earlier lot 19 on which Mountside was built (Davis was listed in 1886 as a director of the Canterbury Park Race Club and in 1887 as a Member of the Legislative Assembly).

In 1883 lots 12 to 14 (about 2 1/2 acres) were transferred to George Yeomans (the present boundaries of Ulinbawn are within lots 12 and 13) [ref: 1].  This created a new title dated 1885 for Lots 12 to 14 [ref: 28]. Lots 12 to 14 (i.e., Ulinbawn) were purchased from Yeomans by Donald Frederick Skarratt in 1918 [ref: 28].  

Following the death of John Lucas on 1st March 1902 his remaining part of the original 10 acre property consisting of lots 1 to 11 passed to three of his sons.  The sons sold these lots to Skarratt in October 1910 [ref: 1] who also about 1910 purchased the adjacent Mountside property (lots 15 to 17 plus lots 24 to 27?).  

Thus by 1918 the separate titles formed by subdivision and which had been under ownership of Lucas, Yeomans and Davis all passed to Donald Skarratt.  This remained the situation until the 1950s and 1960s when new subdivisions occurred (see later).
The Name "Ulinbawn"
After the death of his father, George Yeomans Jnr spent a lot of time at Ulinbawn with his uncle from about 1895 or 1896 and knew the house as "Ulinbawn".  He recollects "the name was still on the back of the house fence in 1942 when I last saw the old home" [ref: 11].

As told to Len Wall, George Yeomans (jnr) said that he understood that the name Ulinbawn is Aboriginal for "sunrise" and was so named because of the magnificent view of the sunrise each morning across Emu Plains [ref: 12].  (This origin of the name is dubious, ‘Ulinbawn’ is unlikely to have been an aboriginal word and is not in any dictionaries of local dialects).

The earliest known record of the name Ulinbawn is from an advertisement placed by G. Yeomans in the Nepean Times dated 22nd May 1897 requesting tenders for work to be carried out at the house [ref: 65].  The name also appears in a recurring advertisement in the Sydney Morning Herald in 1902 for the letting of the house as a “summer residence” [ref: 62].  It is referred to in the NSW electoral roll for 1906 [ref: 41].  Rate record books for the Blue Mountains Shire Council covering 1907-09 and up to the early 1940s record the name Ulinbawn [ref: 29].  The name is also recorded as the residence of F. Wall in 1916 [ref: 50].
It is known that a house named Ulinbawn was built in 1812 at Sackville Reach by Cyrus Matthew Doyle, apparently he named the house after the family home in County Wicklow, Ireland [ref: 42].  The Doyle family sold this house around 1870 and the house was demolished in 1950 [ref: 59]. Sibling descendants of the Doyles married siblings of the Want family who resided at Lapstone Hill in the 1870s.  The Want family included the young Sydney Alfred Want and wife Ellen (nee Doyle) (married in 1873) and their children. It also included Arthur Frederick Doyle and his wife Emily Pauline (nee Want) (married 1873) and their children.  It appears that these Doyles brought the name Ulinbawn with them to Lapstone Hill.

There is also a possible link between the Doyle family and the Lucas family.

Another house named Ulinbawn exists at Euabalong NSW and is owned by descendants of the Doyles of Sackville. 
No other name has been recorded for the house.  The meaning of the name is unknown but ‘bawn’ is commonly used in Ireland as follows:   

The word "bawn" is derived from two Gaelic words; "ba", Irish for cow (or cattle) and "dhun", meaning "fort", translating roughly into "cow-fort" or "cattle-fort".  So the anglicised form of "badhun", was "bawn". The bawn as constructed by the English in Ulster was a defended courtyard with walls usually built of stone, but sometimes of brick, clay, timber and sod. They protected the house, the family, and property of the plantation's principal landlord. The house could be free-standing in the centre of the bawn or ... positioned up against one of the peripheral walls. (from history of Bellaghy – Bawn, Ulster).

The conclusion from the above is that the origin of the name came about through a connection with the Doyle family during the 1870s period. The original pronunciation is not known.
The Early 1900s

There were severe bushfires in the area about 1902 and in 1944.  The north west corner of the roof was set alight but was put out by the occupants of the time [ref: 27].  Evidence of this fire remains.  Other early houses in the vicinity have not been so fortunate in their encounters with bushfires over the years.  Lucasville residence was destroyed by bushfire around the period 1900 to 1910.  Also Mountside was significantly damaged by bushfire about 1944.
No occupants were listed for Ulinbawn in the 1903 electoral roll [ref: 41].  This was about the time that Ulinbawn was advertised to let and may have been vacant for some time.  It is likely that there were tenants around 1903 to 1906 period but no record is known.
Ulinbawn had a long association with the Skarratt family from the early 1900s until the 1960s but was only briefly occupied by them.  The Skarratts were immigrants descended from the Skarratt family of Kington, Herefordshire.

Ulinbawn was occupied by Donald Frederick Skarratt and elderly brother Thomas Carleton Skarratt (from 1906 or earlier) until Donald purchased neighbouring Mountside where he was living in 1906 [ref. 2]. D. Skarratt had associations with the Glenbrook area from the 1890's prior to moving to Ulinbawn. They inherited money from the estate of an uncle who had interests in the Mount Morgan gold mine and used the money to buy Mountside, Ulinbawn and other properties around Glenbrook [ref: 27].  Skarratt did not own Ulinbawn whilst living there but purchased it in 1918 from Yeomans [ref: 28] with the purchase price recorded as 675 pounds [ref: 29].   Skarratt’s occupation was listed as ‘trainer’ [ref: 41].

Thomas Carleton Skarratt, who was an assayer, lived at Ulinbawn in 1906 [ref: 41], he was the elder brother of Donald Skarratt. He had been employed by his uncle at the Mount Morgan gold mine in Queensland in 1893 [ref: 49].  Also living at Ulinbawn in 1906 was Elizabeth Norris, occupation described as ‘lady help’ [ref: 41].   She is presumed to have been in employment at Mountside and at Ulinbawn as it appears there were no other women living there at this time [ref: 41].  Donald Skarratt did not marry until 1914 when he married the ‘lady help’ Elizabeth Norris.   Thomas Skarratt married Esther Caroline Page in 1907 (Esther had been the barmaid at a hotel for which Thomas was the publican), it is not known where they were living at the time of their marriage. Thomas and Esther subsequently lived at Lakesland, near Thirlmere. [ref. 47].

The Skarratts were originally from Kington, Herefordshire, England and were nephews of Walter Hall, one of the shareholders of the Mount Morgan mine. Walter and Eliza Hall made their fortune from the Mt Morgan Mine and later from Cobb and Co coaches. After his death in 1911 Eliza established the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute in Melbourne which is still operating. It is known that substantial money and shares were bequeathed to Thomas Skarratt from the will of Eliza Rowden Hall (estate of T.C. Skarratt, file 48441).  

After this time a family named Wall tenanted Ulinbawn from 1910 to 1924 [ref: 2, 10, 50].  Frank and Emily Frances Wall were living at ‘Lucasville’ in 1909 and in 1913 (this probably referred to the area rather than the Lucasville house (which may previously have burnt down) and is likely to mean they were living at Ulinbawn), Frank’s occupation was ‘operator’ [ref: 41].  Frank Wall ‘was reputed to have been the first operator of the telegraph and of the railway’ and was employed at Penrith [ref: 2, 32, 64].  He retired in 1920 being in ill health and moved in 1922 to Trangie [ref: 31].  He returned to Glenbrook where he died in 1925 aged 63 years and was buried in the Anglican cemetery at Emu Plains [ref: 64].  Donald Skarratt described his funeral procession, “his funeral was the first I ever saw and something I shall never forget …. in those days they used matched black horses with canopies and great black ostrich plumes on the foreheads of the horses .…. it was a truly magnificent sight” [ref: 2].   Emily (nee Haydon, married 1905 [ref: 52]) was Frank Wall’s second wife, his first wife Olive died in 1898 aged 36 and is also buried in the Anglican cemetery at Emu Plains.

Frank’s sons Bertie Clyde Wall (Bert) and Darcy Wall kept a general store on the corner of Ross Street and Park Street, they and another son Maxwell (Mox) may have lived at Ulinbawn with their father.  Bert enlisted in the AIF in 1916 [ref: 50] at age 22 listed as a clerk resident at Glenbrook.
The Schoolhouse
Ulinbawn was in use as a private school during the 1920s.  Donald Skarratt recalled that the school was operational from 22nd September 1924 and some of the names of pupils.  The headmaster was a Mr Durham, who had previously established a school in Shallard’s Cottage in Brooklands Road near the Bluff.  The school was called the “Blue Mountains Grammar School” [ref: 2].  The school started 22/9/24 [ref: 10].  
Ulinbawn was known as the "Academy".  As a school Ulinbawn boarded about 20 students who slept out on the verandahs [ref: 6].

Ulinbawn was known as the “Collegiate School” in 1923 and advertised itself as a day and boarding school for boys [ref: 14].  In about 1925 the Collegiate School had six day boys and about 12 boarders.  The Principal, Mr Durham, lived at Ulinbawn with his wife, young daughter, Roma, and also a young lady who taught French.  High educational standards were maintained stimulated by the threat of the stick wielding headmaster [ref: 15].

Later electoral rolls and World War 1 Service record provide the full names for the Durhams as Garnet Swift Durham, his wife Elsie Mildred (or Matilda) and daughter Roma Enid.  Mr Durham had earlier taught at Kalgoorlie (1910) and Perth (1916).

The large room near to the back door was used then as the classroom.  Physical culture performed at the front of the house was part of the daily routine which occasionally also included excursions to the Nepean River [ref: 25].
The Grounds

The earliest description of the house and property is from 1902 and is as follows: “7 rooms, kitchen, bathroom, 3 acres land, orchard, flower garden” [ref: 62].

From an account of a meeting between Garth Murphy of 3 Newbridge Place and someone that he met in Tasmania the coral tree (erythrina indica) was planted by the father (or grandfather) of that person who lived at Ulinbawn about 1900 to 1920 and who was the stationmaster at Glenbrook. This may be a reference to one of the sons of Frank Wall.

David Edmonds once met the person responsible for planting the tree which was a cutting taken from the Royal National Park and stuck in the ground [ref: 9].

The coral tree deteriorated significantly in the late 1990s with loss of major limbs and, with regret, was removed in 2001.

There were at one time two tall palm trees growing at the front of the house [ref: 9], one of which is visible in a photo of the front of the house whilst the other is a stump [ref. 45].  The extent of any original gardens or landscaping at the front of the house is otherwise unknown.

George Yeomans recollected that the house stood on about 5 acres of land and that there was a beautiful orchard at the back beyond which there was a buggy shed and the cow bail - they had their own milk supply.  When his uncle began living at Ulinbawn there was no bath and he arranged to have a sunken bath chiselled out of solid rock off the side verandah.  Skarratts later covered it over or filled it [ref: 12].

Len Wall described the rear of Ulinbawn as follows.  Looking from the rear verandah on the right there was a large bush house and behind that a concrete tank about 6 feet underground and 4 feet above, which was fed from the house roof catchment and provided the water supply.  A path ran up the back some twenty or thirty yards to some steps up to a sort of terrace with a row of citrus trees running parallel to the house.  Further back again there were more fruit trees with a magnificent mulberry over to the left.  At the back of the orchard was the buggy shed, etc, which borderered on "Punch's Paddock", where a walking track ran through the bush to meet up with the road that comes up over the hill from Glenbrook Park (Lucasville Road) [ref: 12].

Entry to the house was always from the rear of the house.  A pathway led from the back door past the kitchen (now the family room) with a separate timber laundry somewhere to the right, through a stone wall with the toilet on the left and a himalayan strawberry tree and the well on the right.  The path led past the shed on the left which was about in the middle of the present cul-de-sac turning circle, there was a huge gum tree near the shed. The well was about 8 feet deep by 8 feet across with a brick arch dome and collected rainwater from the roof.  The shed had tin walls and roof.  A very rare pink camellia was on the right side of the verandah front steps [ref: 27].  

Recent discovery of the remains of the brick well indicate that it ceased to be used from about 1937 and appears to have been progressively filled with rubbish into the early 1960s, the dome was removed at some time and the remains buried with fill.

The Stone Seat
Garth Murphy (of 4 Newbridge Place) gave an account of a visitor to his house, a Mr Gilbert Martin,  who apparently had been billeted to stay in Ulinbawn while working for the RAAF as a radio operator during the war and recognised Ulinbawn by the stone seat under the tree.

Recent History – 1920s to 1960s

The appearance of the house and grounds remained essentially as it was in Yeomans time.  Donald Skarratt rented out the house and spent little on its upkeep as, although he had much property in the area he had little cash [ref: 6].

Reginald John Bennett, company director, Edith Grace Bennett (nee Grace Hall) and Thelma Amelia Thompson occupied Ulinbawn in 1928 [ref: 38] and are recorded at Ulinbawn in the 1930 electoral roll.  Bennett was 3rd cousin by marriage to Eric Skarratt.  The rent was 22/6 per week and Eric's father Donald wished to increase to 30/- per week but the government placed a moratorium on rent increases at the time of the depression.  It appeared there was some animosity between the Skarratts and "the Captain" [ref: 27].  Grace Hall was born in 1895 [ref: 57].  She was a niece of Walter Hall, the uncle of Donald Skarratt.  Madge Hall, known as Didi, and sister of Grace stayed at Ulinbawn [ref. 38]. 
Reginald Bennett was born in Brisbane on 27 March 1885, later lived at Longreach, Queensland then in England, he gained his Aviator’s Certificate in service with the Royal Flying Corp in 1916 [ref: 56]. The Bennetts were married in London in 1918 at which time his rank was noted as Captain in the Royal Flying Corp [ref: 57].  

Children of the Bennetts included Patricia, Brian and their younger sister Evelyn (Lyn) Grace Hall Bennett (married name Grigg). Evelyn was born on July 12, 1929, at the time of the Bennetts living at Ulinbawn [ref: 38 & 60].

Frank Forbes White lived at Ulinbawn about 1934, he owned a sock (or hosiery) factory in the city, he had a son also named Frank but known as Bill [ref: 27]. A scratched inscription on the front wall of the house behind a window shutter reads “1933 to 1940 Frank White”.  As he was sometimes absent with his business he employed a caretaker, George Stobie, who was from Scotland via Nova Scotia.  Kell Cameron, a long time resident of Glenbrook, recalled staying at Ulinbawn as a young boy with his grandfather and with George Stobie, that was about 1935.  He remembered ghostly footsteps on the verandah in the middle of the night (the resident sheep) and grandfather discharging a shotgun into the kitchen ceiling.

Bill McCleave, a Scotsman, lived at Ulinbawn from about 1936 to 1941, he worked at the wool stores [ref: 27].  These dates are more likely to have been from about 1940 to at least 1954. Mr McCleave was born in Ballarat in 1888 so does not qualify as a ‘Scotsman’. The 1943 and 1954 electoral rolls list William Albert and Edna Violet McCleave as resident at Ulinbawn and show his occupation as ‘sheep skin buyer’.  It is assumed Edna was either his second wife (he first married Alice Eliza Stone in Albany WA in 1920) or a daughter.  He employed George Stobie as a resident caretaker (?). Bill had previously lived in the Turramurra area and prior to that in the Fremantle WA area.
The Skarratts had no money to spend on the house and it deteriorated in time [ref: 6].  George Yeomans visited Ulinbawn around 1939 to 1942 and referred to an old lady and her husband "who were caretakers" [ref: 11].  He also referred to an “old scotch couple” who cared for the home (but this could have been referring to an earlier period around 1910) [ref:36].  During the war years it was used to billet RAAF staff, this may have continued on and off until the 1960's.  
Dr Hussey, his wife and wife's sister lived at Ulinbawn.  This period is not clear but at the time Dr Hussey was employed by the government during the construction of the Warragamba dam, he was not in general practice [ref: 27].  Dr Hussey was known to Red Morgan, author of ‘Warragamba Dam’ as a dispenser of aspirin and a man who liked his beer.  The doctor lived for a time at Warragamba and may have been of Scandinavian origin.
The local postman has recalled delivering back braces to a Mr Dent who lived at Ulinbawn in 1956.  Mr Norman Thomas Wiltshire Dent is listed on the Honour Roll at St Peter’s, Glenbrook.  His wife was Dorothy Harper of Glenbrook.
The property on which Ulinbawn was situated was subdivided after the war (about 1956?) creating Newbridge Place with Ulinbawn on a bit under 2 (1?) acres and then subdivided again in 1964 to create Nepean Gardens Place.  This later subdivision formed 10 separate lots from lots 11, 12 & 13 of D.P. 762, with Ulinbawn as lot 5 of D.P. 222068.  The subdivision is shown on a plan dated 1964 which shows the property area as 1170 sq. m. [ref 20]. 

For a period of about 9 months in 1964 the Skarratts leased the house to the Cordin family who were in the process of building a house next door at no. 12 Knapsack Street.  At that time Ulinbawn was in a poor state [ref 21].

Recent History – 1960s to 1990s

Ulinbawn remained in the Skarratt family passing to Elizabeth Skarratt (widow) until sold in 1965 to William Arthur and Shirley Doris O'Neill for 4,600 pounds [ref: 7].  Torrens title was issued 27/8/64 as Volume 9791 Folio 198 (prior title was Volume 6242 Folio 85) [ref: 33].  William O'Neill was a real estate agent from Blackheath [ref: 33].

Title then passed to Aileen Madge Lee, widow, under transfer L474876 dated 28/11/69 [ref: 8] who had been a domestic helper for the Skarratts [ref: 9 & 27].  
David Hanbury Edmonds and Claire Edmonds purchased Ulinbawn in 1972.  The Edmonds sold to the Pooles (full names?) in 1985 who sold to John and Helen Elliot in 1989 (?).  The Elliots occupied but then tenanted to Grant and Elaine Buggy (Wing Commander, RAAF) who lived there until 1996.  The present owners, Colleen Fuller and David Payne, purchased Ulinbawn from the Elliots in 1994 and moved there in 1996.

Ulinbawn is now listed in the Blue Mountains Local Heritage Plan register no. G32, is included in the State Heritage inventory and is listed by the National Trust [ref: 39].

Changes to the House

An examination of the house and underfloor reveals numerous changes over the years.  The house as originally built in the 1870s was of more modest proportions and appears to have been sized about 24 x 12 (the front bedroom and hallway only) divided into 2 rooms with possible outbuildings such as a separate kitchen.  In appearance it is thought to have had a central doorway flanked by two sets of french doors probably with shutters and a small verandah.  

Alterations in the 1870s or 1880s achieved its present general layout and appearance.  The floor and ceiling levels were raised in height.  It appears that the arch top French doors and shutters from the front were relocated to the southern and western side and that the front door was relocated to become the back door.  The rear arch top window (present kitchen) was perhaps relocated from the north side where the present doorway is from the hall to the drawing room.

An advertisement placed by George Yeomans in 1897 requested tenders for “erection of rubble walls for a room 9 x 10” [ref: 65], this may be for the rear bedroom.

At an unknown time the original cast iron brackets and ballustrades were removed from the verandahs.  The oldest known photo of Ulinbawn from about the 1940s or 1950s shows at least one of the original brackets still in place on a column near the front door.  Some fragments of the ironwork which were found about the gardens in 1995 (including the bracket seen in the photo) indicate the patterns used and have allowed restoration of the verandahs.

The kitchen was located at the rear of the house as a separate structure and had a fuel stove, it is now the family room.  This kitchen could have been from the time of the original smaller house or a later addition. There was no bathroom (it is said that there was a sunken bath carved in rock off the side verandah [ref: 12]) until an outside timber addition was added on the southern side where the workroom is now.  It contained a claw footed bath and chip heater [ref: 27].  The present rear bedroom had been the dining room and had a timber panelled ceiling, the laundry had been a pantry [ref: 27].

Some modernisation was carried out some time about the mid 40's to early 50's including provision of a bathroom in the area previously used as a buttery, the provision of a laundry and the fitout of the kitchen in its present location.
The Edmonds purchased in 1972 and carried out significant renovations including the provision of the upstairs rooms, staircase, ensuite, kitchen fitout, skylights, pool, garage, enclosed gallery from the kitchen to the family room, paving and landscaping.  

The Pooles had the main rooms repainted, the painting was done by Robin McPherson of Glenbrook in the late 1980's. 

Recent work by the current owners has included re-establishment and landscaping of the gardens, general maintenance and restoration work, and refurbishing of the modern upstairs rooms more appropriate to the period of the house. 
Members of the Nepean Historical Society and Glenbrook and District Historical Society inspected the house in 1997 and recorded Ulinbawn to be “a true jewel of this district” [ref: 23]. 

Notes prepared by David Payne and Colleen Fuller August 1998, updated January 2010.
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